2005

Lynn A. Jenkins, I. v. National Product Sales, Inc. d.b.a. NPS, and John Does I-X : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE APPELLATE COURT

This appeal is from the final judgment of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Hon. John Paul Kennedy, District Court Judge presiding. The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j), since the appeal was transfer by the Utah Supreme Court as allowed by Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4).

The relevant dates of the appeal are:

- (a.) the final judgment appealed from was entered August 12, 2005;
- (b.) the notice of appeal was filed September 11, 2005; and
- (c.) there were no motions filed pursuant to Rules 50(b), 52(b), or 59, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue I: THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT GAVE INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY TO DETERMINE THE LAW OF A CITIZEN'S ARREST.

Standard of review: *State v. Trane*, 2002 Utah LEXIS 138,*; 2002 UT 97; 57 P.3d 1052,

[*12] "The actual issue in this case is whether the [NPS] officers had authority and probable cause to arrest [plaintiff]."

II. Issue: THE COURT'S JURY INSTRUCTIONS TO DETERMINE THE FACTS OF A CITIZEN'S ARREST WERE IN ERROR.

The jury was given the following questions for its determination:

3. Defendant, or its employees or agents, had the lawful right to detain the Plaintiff because:

- a. The Defendant, and or its employee or agent, had reason to believe that merchandise had been wrongfully taken by the Plaintiff, and the merchandise can (sic) be recovered by detaining the Plaintiff

in a reasonable manner for a reasonable length of time, for the purpose of attempting to effect the recovery of the merchandise or for the purpose of informing a peace officer of the circumstances of the detention.

Yes X [jury answer]

No

b. The Defendant, and or its employee or agent, had probable cause to believe that Plaintiff had committed a retail theft or had taken the goods with an intent to steal them, if the detention is for a reasonable length of time for all or any of the following purposes: to recover the goods, or to make reasonable inquiry as to whether Plaintiff has in his possession unpurchased merchandise; to request and/or verify identification.

Yes X [jury answer]

No

c. to inform a peace officer of the detention of the person and surrender that person to the custody of a peace officer.

Yes

No X [jury answer]

Standard of review: *Eddy v. Albertson's, Inc.*, 2001 Utah LEXIS 172,*; 2001 UT 88; 34

P.3d 781, “. . . [*5] A. Sufficiency of the Evidence. A judgment should be vacated only if, after viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, the appellate court concludes that the evidence is insufficient to sustain the verdict. *Franklin v. Stevenson*, 1999 UT 61, 987 P.2d 22.”

III. Issue: THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ORDERED APPELLANT TO PAY THE APPELLEE’S COURT COSTS.

It is ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Plaintiff take nothing, that the action be dismissed on the merits, and that Defendant recover court costs from Plaintiff in the amount of \$687.00.

Standard of review: *Eddy v. Albertson's, Inc.*, 2001 Utah LEXIS 172,*; 2001 UT 88; 34 P.3d 781, “[*9] The jury was justified in concluding that the [NPS] employees detained [appellant] on suspicion of shoplifting and that they failed to satisfy the citizen's arrest statutory requirements. While there was other evidence supportive of [appellee's] version of events, the jury was entitled to make its own judgments on controverted testimony regarding the facts.”

IV. Issue: THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED THE APPELLANT DAMAGES AWARDED TO HIM BY THE JURY.

The jury was instructed:

If you find that Plaintiff was detained, please state the dollar amount of damage, if any, Plaintiff proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he suffered as a direct and proximate consequence of the detention. \$5,000.00 [jury answer]

Standard of review: *Eddy v. Albertson's, Inc.*, 2001 Utah LEXIS 172,*; 2001 UT 88; 34 P.3d 781,: “[*5] Sufficiency of the Evidence court concludes that the evidence is insufficient to sustain the verdict. *Franklin v. Stevenson*, 1999 UT 61, 987 P.2d 22.”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a citizen’s arrest by the defendant-appellee, National Products Sales d.b.a., (“NPS”), when they placed the plaintiff-appellant Lynn A. Jenkins I., under an arrest by handcuffing him and physically placing him into a small confinement room at its sales location on Armstrong Drive in Salt Lake City Utah. The appellee’s claimed immunity under Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-6-602, 76-6-603, 76-6-604, 77-7-3, 77-7-12, 77-

7-14 and 78-11-18.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The United States Supreme Court in its recent slip opinion, *DOLAN v. UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE ET AL.*, Certiorari to the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit, No. 04–848. Argued November 7, 2005, Decided February 22, 2006 raised to the issue of the congressional grant of governmental employee immunity and clearly ruled that federal employees were not immune from tort claims since congress mandated a reasonable delivery of the US mail and *DOLAN* was denied that reasonable mail delivery which caused her harm. 544 U. S. ____ (2005) page 4., Section II:

We assume that under the applicable state law a person injured by tripping over a package or bundle of papers negligently left on the porch of a residence by a private party would have a cause of action for damages. See 28 U. S. C. §§1346(b)(1), 2674. The question is whether, when mail left by the Postal Service causes the slip and fall, the §2680(b) exception for “loss, miscarriage, or negligent transmission of letters or postal matter” preserves sovereign immunity despite the FTCA’s more general statements of waiver. . . . page 5 . . . ‘transmission’ in §2680(b) follow two other terms, ‘loss’ and ‘miscarriage.’ Those terms, we think, limit the reach of ‘transmission.’ ‘[A] word is known by the company it keeps’— a rule that ‘is often wisely applied where a word is capable of many meanings in order to avoid the giving of unintended breadth to the Acts of Congress.’ *Jarecki v. G. D. Searle & Co.*, 367 U. S. 303, 307 (1961); see also *Dole v. Steelworkers*, 494 U. S. 26, 36 (1990) (‘[W]ords grouped in a list should be given related meaning’ (internal quotation marks omitted)).

A citizen’s arrest is criminal in nature which clearly denies the arrested party any due process, or the rights afforded the criminal at large, in other words, qualified immunity means a person placed under a citizen’s arrest is guilty of shoplifting. without a

trial, nor protection by a magistrate nor right to face his accuser. The United States Supreme Court determined that a federal agent's “. . . [q]ualified immunity is not the law to simply save trouble” *WILL ET AL. v. HALLOCK ET AL.*, Certiorari to the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, No. 04–1332. Argued November 28, 2005, Decided January 18, 2006, slip page 7., 546 U.S. ____ (2006):

. . . . Qualified immunity is not the law simply to save trouble for the Government and its employees; it is recognized because the burden of trial is unjustified in the face of a colorable claim that the law on point was not clear when the official took action, and the action was reasonable in light of the law as it was. **The nub of qualified immunity is the need to induce officials to show reasonable initiative when the relevant [shoplifting] law is not “clearly established,”** *Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U. S. 800, 818 (1982); see also *Saucier v. Katz*, 533 U. S. 194, 202 (2001); a quick resolution of a qualified immunity claim is essential. (Emphases added)

page 8., the moment an official is served with a complaint, the judgment bar can be raised only after a case under the [federal] Tort Claims Act has been resolved in the Government's favor. If a *Bivens* action alone is brought, there will be no possibility of a judgment bar, nor will there be so long as a *Bivens* action against officials and a [federal] Tort Claims Act against the Government are pending simultaneously

ARGUMENT

As to Issue: I., the court clearly erred when it gave instructions to the jury to determine the law of a citizen's arrest. Determinative law: The Supreme Court has stated an arrest is an issue of law. See: *State v. Trane*, 2002 Utah LEXIS 138,*; 2002 UT 97; 57 P.3d 1052, “Further, the questions of whether an arrest . . . is constitutional are questions of law *State v. Harmon*, 910 P.2d 1196, 1199; *State v. Brown*, 853 P.2d 851, 855 (Utah 1992).”

As to Issue: II., the court's jury instructions to determine the facts of the citizen's arrest were in error. Determinative law: *Eddy v. Albertson's, Inc.*, 2001 UT 88; 34 P.3d 781: "[*6] The 'citizen's arrest' statute provides, in pertinent part, that '[a] private person may arrest another: (1) For a public offense committed by another in his presence' Utah Code Ann. § 77-7-3(1) [*7] (1995) (emphasis omitted). However, for such an arrest to be lawful, section 77-7-6(1) of the Utah Code requires that 'the person making the arrest shall inform the person being arrested of his intention, cause and authority to arrest him.' [*8] In *McFarland v. Skaggs*, 678 P.2d 298 (Utah 1984), we explained that the notice of 'intention, cause and authority' of section 77-7-6 of the Utah Code must be given 'at the time the prisoner is detained or the arrest is effected, rather than sometime later during the time of detention,' otherwise, the arrest falls 'short of the statutory mandate' and the defendant 'fails to perfect whatever privilege it might have . . . to arrest plaintiff' for the offense. *Id.* at 302."

As to Issue: III., the court erred when it ordered appellant to pay the appellee's court costs. Determinative law: *Eddy v. Albertson's, Inc.*, 2001 Utah LEXIS 172,*; 2001 UT 88; 34 P.3d 781, "[*4] The jury found that [NPS had] falsely imprisoned [*5] [appellant], but did not find intentional infliction of emotional distress. Accordingly, the jury awarded \$ 5616 in damages and costs."

As to Issue: IV., the court erred when it denied the appellant damages awarded to him by the jury. Determinative law: *Eddy v. Albertson's, Inc.*, 2001 UT 88; 34 P.3d 781.

“[*6] Based on th[e] evidence, it was reasonable for the jury to conclude that the two [appellee's] employees were acting on suspicion of shoplifting, and that under the circumstances the suspicion was unfounded and could not give rise to a right to arrest and detain.”

The jury’s verdict on August 12, 2005 found:

1. Plaintiff was detained by Defendant or its employees or agents who acted intentionally and without Plaintiff’s consent.

Yes X [jury answer]

No ____

2. Plaintiff was aware of the detention or was damaged by the detention.

Yes X [jury answer]

No ____

The appellee’s immunity, granted by the jury, failed to meet the immunity standard established by the Utah Supreme Court in *Laney v. Fairview City*, 2002 UT 79; 57 P.3d 1007; 453 Utah Adv. Rep. 40, citing *Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp.*, 717 P.2d 670 (Utah 1985):

The Origins of the Open Courts Clause of State Constitutions, 74 *Or. L. Rev.* 1279 (1995); *Industrial Comm’n v. Evans*, 52 Utah 394, 174 P. 825, 831 (1918) (‘The question of ultimate legal liability cannot be withdrawn from the courts.’). Second, open courts or remedies clauses were intended to grant individuals rights to a judicial remedy for the protection of their person, property, or reputation from abrogation and unreasonable limitation by economic interests that could control state legislatures. See *Schuman*, 65 *Temp. L. Rev.* at 1208; *Berry*, 717 P.2d at 675.¹

¹ *Also note*: RUSSON, Justice, concurring: . . . The *Berry* test applies to legislative acts that would restrict or eliminate the right of the people to seek a remedy under the open courts provision of the Utah Constitution against a person, business, or

together with, the equal protection requirements stated in *Gallivan v. Walker*, 2002 Utah

LEXIS 117,*; 2002 UT 89; 54 P.3d 1069; 455 Utah Adv. Rep. 3:

¶31 Article I, section 24 of the Utah Constitution states: ‘All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation.’ Utah Const. art. I, § 24. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits a state from enacting laws that deny ‘any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.’ U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. Despite their dissimilar language, these two constitutional provisions ‘embody the same general principle: persons similarly situated should be treated similarly, and persons in different circumstances should not be treated as if their circumstances were the same.’ *Malan v. Lewis*, 693 P.2d 661, 669 (Utah 1984); see also *Carrier v. Pro-Tech Restoration*, 944 P.2d 346, 355-56 (Utah 1997) (observing that Utah's uniform operation of laws provision and federal Equal Protection Clause ‘embody the same general principles’); *Mountain Fuel Supply Co. v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 752 P.2d 884, 888 (Utah 1988) (same); *Liedtke v. Schettler*, 649 P.2d 80, 81 n.1 (Utah 1982) (stating that article I, section 24 is ‘generally considered the equivalent of the Equal Protection Clause of the 14th Amendment, U.S. Constitution’).

CONCLUSION

The appellee-defendant NPS has acted in bad faith concerning the citizen’s arrest and should be required to pay appellant’s prayer for relief, as stated in the complaint matter.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Court enter its judgment as follows:

1. For an Order that Defendant, and its employees are jointly and severally liable to Plaintiff in the amount of not less than \$250,000.00, or such other and further amounts as may be proven at trial.

government entity participating in a private or proprietary action that allegedly harmed them.

2. For an Order that Defendant, and its officers and directors are jointly and severally liable to Plaintiff in the amount of not less than \$250,000.00, or such other and further amounts as may be proven at trial.

3. For an Order that Defendant, and the owners of the premises used and occupied by Defendant be jointly and severally liable to Plaintiff in the amount of not less than \$250,000.00, or such other and further amounts as may be proven at trial.

4. For costs and attorneys fees, as may be just and reasonable.

5. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.