2005

Lynn A. Jenkins, I. v. National Product Sales, Inc., dba NPS : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Article VIII § 5 of the Utah Constitution, Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) and (4), Utah Code Ann. § 78-2(a)-3(2)(j), and Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. The appeal in this case was taken from the entering of a no-cause of action against Plaintiff-Appellant after a jury trial on August 12, 2005, before the Honorable John Paul Kennedy. The case was appealed to the Utah Supreme Court and subsequently transferred to the Utah Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL

The issues presented for appeal, as stated by Appellant, are as follows:

1. The Court erred when it gave instructions to the jury to determine the law of a citizen's arrest.

Standard of Review: Review for correctness. See Green v. Louder, 2001 UT 62 P14, 29 P.3d 638 (holding that review of challenges to jury instructions are under a "correctness" standard).

2. The Court's jury instructions to determine the facts of a citizen's arrest were in error.

Standard of Review: Review for correctness. See Green v. Louder, 2001 UT 62 P14, 29 P.3d 638 (holding that review of challenges to jury instructions are under a "correctness" standard).

3. The Court erred when it ordered Appellant to pay the Appellee's court costs.

Standard of Review: Abuse of discretion. See Jensen v. Sawyers, 2005 UT 81 P140, 130 P.3d 325 (holding that the trial court's decision to award costs under Rule 54(d)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard).

4. The Court erred when it denied the Appellant damages awarded to him by the jury.

Standard of Review: Appellant's argument on its fourth point on appeal appears to claim that the statute upon which the jury instruction regarding Appellee having a lawful right to detain Appellant is unconstitutional. Accordingly, it appears that the Appellant is challenging both the instruction and the constitutionality of the underlying statute. Both issues are issues of law which are reviewed for correctness. See Green v. Louder, 2001 UT 62 P14, 29 P.3d 638 (holding that review of challenges to jury instructions are under a "correctness" standard); and State v. Thomas, 2002 UT 128 P4, 63 P.3d 672 (holding that conclusions of law of a district court are reviewed for correctness).

DETERMINATIVE LAW

The following statutes and rules are set out verbatim in the addendum attached hereto:

Utah Code Ann. §78-11-18

Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure

Rule 33 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure

Rule 34 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure

Rule 40 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure

Rule 54 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the claim of Lynn Jenkins (“Appellant”) for false imprisonment as the result of being detained by employees of National Product Sales (“Appellee”), after returning to Appellee’s store after removing a truck bumper from the store and taking it to Bountiful. Appellant alleged at trial that he had permission to take the merchandise with him to Bountiful, while Appellee alleged that Appellant had only been given permission to take the bumper to the store parking lot to check it for fit. A jury trial was held on August 12, 2005, in which the jury entered a no-cause verdict based on a finding that Appellee’s actions were within the scope of limited immunity for merchants as outlined in Utah Code Ann. §78-11-18. This appeal followed.

RELEVANT FACTS

Appellant has not provided a statement of relevant facts, or any citations to the record to support any such facts. The only references to material that would appear in the record are references to portions of the Verdict Form. The Verdict Form is in the record at pages 250 - 253. As Appellant has not provided a statement of relevant facts or made any other attempt to marshal the facts in support of his issues on appeal, it must be

assumed that the jury's findings were adequately supported by evidence at trial. See Harding v. Bell, 2002 UT 108 P19, 57 P.3d 1093.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellee contends as a preliminary matter that Appellant's Issues Nos. 1, 3, and 4 fail as a matter of law on appeal as Appellant has failed to adequately brief these issues. Appellant has made bald citations to cases on these points without attempting to analyze or otherwise explain the relevance of the cases, or to make any meaningful analysis of these issues and the alleged errors of the trial court. In fact, with respect to Issue No. 1, it is not even clear what Appellant's issue on appeal really is.

With respect to Appellant's Issue No. 1, Appellee further contends that as the law of citizen's arrest was not the basis for the jury's entry of a no-cause verdict against Appellant, then any mistake as to the law of citizen's arrest was harmless error by the Court.

With respect to Appellant Issue No. 2, Appellee contends that there was no error in the jury instructions regarding citizen's arrest as the jury instructions include the very requirements that Appellant claims are lacking. Appellee also contends that as citizen's arrest was not the basis for the no-cause verdict against Appellant, that any error that may have occurred is harmless.

With respect to Appellant Issue No. 3, Appellee contends that pursuant to Rule 54(d)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Appellee was entitled to an award of costs as the prevailing party.

With respect to Appellant Issue No. 4, Appellee further contends that Utah Code Ann. §78-11-18 is not unconstitutional as it does not abrogate an existing cause of action, and even if it did, it is constitutional as it is a reasonable means of eliminating a clear social and economic evil.

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT’S FIRST POINT ON APPEAL FAILS BECAUSE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PROPERLY BRIEF THE ISSUE AND BECAUSE THE LAW OF CITIZEN’S ARREST WAS NOT THE BASIS FOR THE ENTRY OF A NO-CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST APPELLANT.

Appellant’s first issue on appeal is that “the court clearly erred when it gave instructions to the jury to determine the law of a citizen’s arrest.” Appellant’s Brief, page 5. Appellant’s Brief on this point is deficient under Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and should not be considered. Appellant’s entire argument on this issue is as follows:

Standard of Review: State v. Trane, 2002 Utah Lexis 138,*; 2002 UT 97; 57 P.2d 1052, [*12] “The actual issue in this case is whether the [NPS] officers had authority and probable cause to arrest [plaintiff].” See Appellant’s Brief, page 1.

and

As to Issue: I., the court clearly erred when it gave instructions to the jury to determine the law of a citizen's arrest. Determinative law: The Supreme Court has stated an arrest is an issue of law. See: State v. Trane, 2002 Utah LEXIS 138,*; 2002 UT 97; 57 P.3d 1052, "Further, the questions of whether an arrest ... is constitutional are questions of law State v. Harmon, 910 P.2d 1196, 1199; State v. Brown, 853 P.2d 851, 855 (Utah 1992)." See Appellant's Brief, page 5.

This argument fails to even properly identify how the trial court allowed the jury to determine the law of citizen's arrest or even which instructions purportedly allow the jury to determine the law of citizen's arrest. It is also not clear how this point on appeal is distinguishable from Appellant's second point on appeal which claims that the instructions to determine the facts of citizen's arrest were in error. Further, Appellant has not provided any meaningful analysis or development of the cited authority to explain how citations from cases dealing with criminal convictions have any bearing in a civil suit for false imprisonment. Absent development and reasoned analysis of the cited authority, this issue has not been adequately briefed. See Spencer v. Pleasant View City, 2003 UT App 379 P20, 80 P.3d 546.

Most importantly, any alleged error on this point is harmless. A proper citizen's arrest is a defense to a claim for false imprisonment. See McFarland v. Skaggs Cos., 678 P.2d 298, 300-303 (Utah 1984) (analyzing the authority to make a citizen's arrest as a defense to a false imprisonment claim). The jury found that Appellant was intentionally detained by the Appellee without Appellant's consent. See Verdict Form, page 1, R.250. The jury also found that Appellant was aware of the detention or was damaged by the

detention. See Verdict Form, page 1, R.250. Accordingly, Appellant had established his *prima facie* case for false imprisonment and cannot contend that he was prevented from establishing his *prima facie* case because of any improper instruction. See Watters v. Querry, 626 P.2d 455, 459 (Utah 1981) (holding that “no flaw in the court’s instructions relating to negligence can inure to the plaintiff’s detriment” because the jury had found in the plaintiff’s favor on this issue, but dismissed on the issue of causation).

The jury subsequently found that the Appellee had the lawful right to detain the Appellant. See Verdict Form, pages 1-2, R.250-251. However, this finding was not based on the citizen’s arrest privilege, but on the merchant’s authority to detain under Utah Code Ann. §78-11-18. Under Utah law, it is harmless error to give an improper jury instruction if a jury could have reached a no-cause verdict on alternate theories and the jury did not identify which theory it relied upon in reaching a no-cause verdict. See Butler v. Naylor, 1999 UT 85 P21, 987 P.2d 41 (holding harmless error to give improper jury instruction if jury could have reached no-cause verdict on alternate theories presented by defense, where jury did not identify theory relied upon in the verdict). In the instant case, the jury specifically found the Appellee’s conduct to be lawful under the merchant’s authority to detain outlined in Utah Code Ann. §78-11-18, not under the theory of a proper citizen’s arrest. Therefore, any improper instruction regarding the law of citizen’s arrest was harmless error because it was not the basis for the jury’s decision.

II. APPELLANT'S SECOND POINT ON APPEAL FAILS BECAUSE THE COURT'S JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING CITIZEN'S ARREST WAS PROPER AND BECAUSE ANY ERROR IN THE INSTRUCTION WAS HARMLESS.

Appellant states as his second issue on appeal that the “court’s jury instructions to determine the facts of the citizen’s arrest were in error.” See Appellate Brief, page 6. In his Statement of the Issues Presented for Review, Appellant apparently contends that it was Paragraph 3 of the Verdict Form that was in error.¹ However, Paragraph 3 of the Verdict Form is not the instruction regarding the law of citizen’s arrest. Rather, it is Paragraph 4 of the Verdict Form which contains the instruction regarding the law of citizen’s arrest.

Appellant correctly notes that for a citizen’s arrest to be lawful, the person making the arrest must be given notice at the time of the detention or arrest of the arresting person’s intention, cause and authority to make the arrest. See Appellate’s Brief, page 6. However, Appellant fails to recognize that this precise instruction was given in Paragraph 4 of the Verdict Form, and as part of Instruction No. 31. Paragraph 4 of the Verdict Form and of Jury Instruction No. 31 reads:

¹ The substance of the Verdict Form was also included in the jury instructions as Instruction No. 31. It should be noted that a typographical error resulted in two Paragraphs being identified as paragraph “3”, with the first paragraph of these two paragraphs being renumbered by the Court as Paragraph 2(a) when the jury requested a clarification on this issue. See Transcript of Trial, R.312 (page 234 of the transcript). It appears that the jury did not actually correct the typographical error. It is the first Paragraph 3, which should be renumbered as 2(a) which Appellant refers to in his Statement of Issues Presented for Review.

If you find that the Defendant or its employees performed a “citizens’ arrest”, then do you also find that the Defendant or its employees and/or agents provided notice to the Plaintiff at the time of the detention of his intention to detain Plaintiff, the cause of the detention, and the person’s authority to make the detention.

See Paragraph 4 of Instruction 31, R.281 and Paragraph 4 of Verdict Form, R.252.

Accordingly, there is no error in the jury instructions because the jury instruction Appellant claims should have been included, was in fact, included in the jury instructions and verdict form. See Brewer v. Denver & Rio Grande W.R.R., 2001 UT 77 PP38 and 41, 31 P.3d 557 (holding no error where requested jury instruction was properly covered in other jury instructions).

Further, even if Paragraph 4 was not a proper statement of the law, the error is harmless. Utah courts “will not reverse for errors in jury instructions if the complaining party ‘fails to demonstrate how the court’s refusal to adopt their proposed jury instructions prejudiced them.’” Cheves v. Williams, 1999 UT 86 P37, 993 P.2d 191 (citing Walker Drug Co. V. La Sal Oil Co., 972 P.2d 1238, 1249 (Utah 1998)). In the instant case, Appellant has failed to indicate how he has been prejudiced by any alleged deficiency regarding the instructions on citizen’s arrest at trial. As discussed in Section I supra, Appellant established his *prima facie* case for false imprisonment, meaning that any error in the instructions regarding citizen’s arrest did not prevent him from establishing his case. The jury returned a no-cause verdict specifically based on merchant’s immunity under Utah Code Ann. § 78-11-18, not the citizen’s arrest privilege.

Accordingly, even if the jury instructions on citizen's arrest were in error, Appellant has not been prejudiced by any such error.

III. APPELLANT'S THIRD POINT ON APPEAL FAILS BECAUSE THE COURT PROPERLY ORDERED THE APPELLANT TO PAY APPELLEE'S COSTS AS APPELLEE WAS THE PREVAILING PARTY AT TRIAL.

As a preliminary matter, Appellant has failed to properly brief this issue and this point should be disregarded on appeal. Appellant's entire argument on this issue consists of two quotes from the decision in Eddy v. Albertson's, Inc., 2001 UT 88, 34 P.3d 781, into which Appellant has inserted "NPS", "Appellee" and "Appellant" in place of the names of the parties in that case.

In his Statement of the Issues Presented for Review, Appellant quotes the Eddy decision as follows:

The jury was justified in concluding that the [NPS] employees detained [appellant] on suspicion of shoplifting and that they failed to satisfy the citizen's arrest statutory requirements. While there was other evidence supportive of [appellee's] version of events, the jury was entitled to make its own judgments on controverted testimony regarding the facts.

See Appellant's Brief, pages 2 and 3 (citing Eddy at P16). In his Argument section on this point, Appellant again quotes Eddy as follows:

The jury found that [NPS had] falsely imprisoned [appellant], but did not find intentional infliction of emotional distress. Accordingly, the jury awarded \$5616 in damages and costs.

See Appellant's Brief, page 6 (citing Eddy at P8). This argument fails to comply with the requirements of Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate procedure as outlined in Spencer,

supra. Appellant has failed to provide any meaningful analysis of this issue and has failed to provide any analysis or reasoning regarding his citations to legal authority. It is not a proper argument to insert the current party's names into quotes from prior decisions.

Further, the Eddy decision is not on point on this issue. Eddy was an appeal from a denial of the defendant's motion for a directed verdict after a jury found in favor of the plaintiff in a false imprisonment case. Id. at P8. As a prevailing party, the plaintiff in that case would be entitled to damages and costs. In the instant case, the opposite situation is presented. Appellant was not the prevailing party at trial because the jury entered a no-cause verdict. Accordingly, the Appellee is the prevailing party at trial and is entitled to its costs pursuant to Rule 54(d)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Appellant has not provided any citation to law or facts, or any analysis of any such citation, to explain how the trial court abused its discretion in awarding costs to Appellee.

IV. APPELLANT'S FOURTH POINT ON APPEAL FAILS BECAUSE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO ADEQUATELY BRIEF THE ISSUE AND BECAUSE THE COURT WAS CORRECT TO NOT AWARD DAMAGES TO APPELLANT.

Appellant has failed to properly brief his claim that the court erred by not awarding damages as found by the jury. Appellant's argument begins with another citation from the Eddy decision, supra, into which Appellant again inserts the current parties' names

into a statement containing factual determinations from the Eddy decision, rather than the current decision. Appellant states:

Based on th[e] evidence, it was reasonable for the jury to conclude that the two [appellee's] employees were acting on suspicion of shoplifting, and that under the circumstances the suspicion was unfounded and could not give rise to a right to arrest and detain.

See Appellant's Brief, page 7 (citing Eddy at P11). Whatever was reasonable for the jury to conclude in the Eddy decision, based on the evidence presented in that case, has no bearing on the current matter before the Court. The Eddy decision does not, in any way, indicate that Appellee in the instant case did not have a right to detain the Appellant. Appellant has not provided any argument or analysis to explain how Eddy in anyway is relevant to the issue of whether Appellant was entitled to prevail at trial in his own case.

The only other argument in support of Appellant's fourth claim of error consists of citations to the decisions of Laney v. Fairview City, 2002 UT 79, 57 P.3d 1007 (citing Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 517 P.2d 670 (Utah 1985) and Gallivan v. Walker, 2002 UT 89, 54 P.3d 1069, regarding various provisions of the Utah Constitution, and an assertion that "appellee's immunity, granted by the jury, failed to meet the immunity standard established by the Laney decision and equal protection requirements outlined in Gallivan. See Appellant's Brief, pages 7-8. Appellant is apparently asking this Court to declare at Utah Code Ann. §78-11-18 unconstitutional.

Under the decision of State v. Thomas, 961 P.2d 299, 305 (Utah 1998), the Supreme Court noted that the "court is not a depository in which the appealing party may

dump the burden of argument and research.” (Internal citations omitted). However, Appellant has failed to identify the test outlined in Laney to evaluate the statute and has failed to provide any analysis of the equal protection requirements the statute is claimed to violate. Appellant is merely throwing an issue before the Court and forcing the Court to argue and research the issue on his behalf. Such assertions fail to comply with the briefing requirements under Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, particularly where the question is one of constitutional analysis.

Further, §78-11-18 does meet the standard in Laney, as taken from the decision in Berry. The Laney decision requires that a preliminary determination that a cause of action has been abrogated by statute. Id. at P49. If a cause of action has been abrogated, Laney then outlines a two-pronged analysis to determine whether the statute provides either a reasonable alternate remedy or eliminates a clear social or economic evil and that the elimination of the existing legal remedy is not an arbitrary or unreasonable means for achieving the objective. Id. at PP 54-55.

Section 78-11-18 does not abrogate a cause of action, but rather provides an affirmative defense, in the event that the merchant is able to prove the necessary elements of the defense. The fact that an affirmative defense is codified or created does not abrogate a cause of action. This is particularly true where the affirmative defense relied upon requires that the merchant’s actions be reasonable. A merchant can still be liable for

false arrest if a jury determines the merchant's actions do not meet the requirements of §78-11-18.

Even if §78-11-18 abrogates an existing legal remedy, §78-11-18 would still be constitutional under the second prong of the Laney test, as the legislature has acted to eliminate a clear social or economic evil. The Utah Supreme Court, as part of a discussion regarding the imposition of punitive damages in shoplifting cases, has noted that:

The very real problem of shoplifting pits two important considerations against each other--the right of the merchant to protect his inventory and the right of the citizen to be free from unwarranted detention and accusation. The common law rule of strict tort liability protected the patron, but at the expense of the merchant's property interest. On the other hand, absolute immunity for the merchant would go too far in allowing one private citizen the right to detain, search and question another.

McFarland at 304. Shoplifting is a significant problem in modern society. Shoplifting results in increased costs to both merchants and consumers. In order to allow merchants to better protect their inventory, the Legislature granted an affirmative defense to false arrest claims by §78-11-18. The statute is not an arbitrary or unreasonable means to meet the objective. Claims against merchants for detentions are not barred completely; rather, the merchant is given an affirmative defense, upon which the merchant bears the burden of proof at trial, that grants immunity to suit if the merchant's actions are reasonable and otherwise comply with §78-11-18. As a result, in the majority of cases, there will be issues of fact to be presented to a jury. Injured parties will have an opportunity to have

their case heard, and a jury will determine whether the merchant acted in a reasonable fashion.

CONCLUSION